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   A 1952 picture purporting to show a UFO
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Introduction
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   The October 1957 issue of Amazing Stories magazine 
 
   Flying Saucers
 
   “The point is that the idea of space vehicles shaped like flying saucers was imprinted in the national psyche for many years prior to 1947, when the Roswell incident took place. It didn't take much stretching for the first observers of UFOs to assume that the unknown objects hovering in the sky had the same disk shape as the science fictional vehicles.” – Frank Wu, illustrator for science fiction magazines 
 
   When people think about unidentified flying objects (UFOs), they tend to think of flying discs piloted by gray beings with large heads and enormous eyes. They tend to think that these sightings only started relatively recently and that belief in UFOs is some sort of modern religion brought on, perhaps, by the very justifiable fears of a nuclear age. But a study of the phenomenon quickly reveals that humanity has been seeing UFOs since the beginning of recorded history and perhaps a lot longer than that.
 
   Modern Ufology focuses on mysterious lights on Ceres or tales of alien abduction, but this wasn’t always the case. Looking at how belief in the UFO phenomenon has changed and how it has stayed the same sheds new light on how culture and belief changes over time. You don’t have to believe humans are actually being visited by aliens from another planet to recognize the importance of UFOs in human society. Any widespread belief that endures for centuries is worthy of study, and as always, cases exist that can’t be explained away as simple “belief” …
 
   Everyone is familiar with theories about UFOs, or “flying saucers” as they were often called then, but even this name dates back only to 1947. Before that time, they were called “ghost rockets” or “ghost airplanes” or “ghost airships.” Before the age of flight, the flying objects were called various things such as “flying chariots.” No matter what terminology is used, every generation has clearly had its own belief that mankind is not alone. 
 
   For example, few things in American history are as controversial as the Roswell Crash. The one undeniable fact is that something happened near Roswell, New Mexico, in 1947, but beyond that, the facts become murky as memories and evidence lose their luster over the years. That said, the impact of an unidentified object continues to mystify residents, visitors and the curious, and it has not only put Roswell on the map but has kept it there for thousands of tourists. Nonetheless, skepticism about the official version of the incident prevails, and a countless number of people continue to believe the American government covered up a crash landing by aliens. As John B. Alexander, Ph. D., a former project manager at the Los Alamos National Laboratory and consultant to the CIA, put it, “Attempting to come to any complete resolution of the incident is a fool’s errand, as whatever the truth may have been has become so distorted over time that facts have merged inextricably with fiction.” 
 
   Flying Saucers: The Mysterious History of the UFO Phenomenon looks at the unidentified flying object craze. Along with pictures of important people, places, and events, you will learn about flying saucers like never before, in no time at all.
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Chapter 1: Early Sightings
 
   While the term “flying saucer” was coined by journalists after the famous 1947 sighting by Kenneth Arnold, who claimed to have seen several objects that looked like saucers flying near his plane, and the term “UFO” is modern Air Force jargon for “unidentified flying object,” people have been seeing strange flying crafts for thousands of years in all parts of the world and in all civilizations. Often, ancient sources explain these sightings in terms of religious visions or apparitions of supernatural beings like the Vedic accounts of flying golden chariots or the flying canoes of some Native American legends.
 
   Unidentified flying objects were just as common during the Middle Ages. Agobard, archbishop of Lyon under Charlemagne in the early 9th century A.D., had to save four people from an angry mob that wanted to stone the people to death because the mob had seen the individuals descend from ships that flew in the sky. The four travelers, three men and a woman, told wild tales of being raised up in these ships and shown many marvelous places. Agobard dispersed the mob by saying that what the travelers claimed was impossible, and thus they could not be sorcerers.
 
    [image: File:Himmelserscheinung über Nürnberg vom 14. April 1561.jpg] 
 
   A 16th century illustration that seems to depict flying objects
 
   The archbishop was a bit of a skeptic and wrote various treatises debunking popular superstitions. In his work De Grandine et Tonitruis (On Hail and Thunder) he wrote about the origins of weather and dismissed the popular belief in tempestarii (weather mages). Nefarious sorcerers summoned aerial sailors in their flying ships to cause storms in order to steal crops from honest farmers’ fields before spiriting them away to the fabled land of Magonia. This belief was a form of early witchcraft hysteria. While local farmers couldn’t catch the aerial sailors, they could accuse their neighbors of being tempestarii.
 
   On September 24, 1235, the Japanese general Yoritsume was on campaign and grew concerned about some strange lights he and his men saw at night. These lights would move around performing loop-de-loops. He sent his most educated advisors to find out what was going on, and they came back with the explanation that the wind was making the stars sway. This was perhaps the first scientific investigation of the UFO phenomenon although it reached a rather unscientific conclusion.
 
   Unexplainable sightings did not stop with General Yoritsume. Christopher Columbus also saw strange objects in the sky. While voyaging to what he thought was India on the Santa Maria, he recorded the following in his journal entry for October 11, 1492:
 
   “After sunset he [Columbus often wrote of himself in the third person] steered on his former course to the west. They made about 12 miles each hour and, until two hours after midnight, made about 90 miles, which is twenty-two leagues and a half. And because the caravel Pinta was a better sailor and went ahead of the Admiral it found land and made the signals that the Admiral had ordered. A sailor named Rodrigo de Triana saw this land first, although the Admiral, at the tenth hour of the night, while he was on the stern castle saw a light, although it was something so faint that he did not wish to affirm that it was land. But he called Pedro Gutierrez, the steward of the king’s dais, and told him that there seemed to be a light, and for him to look: and thus he did and saw it. He also told Rodrigo Sanchez de Segovia, whom the king and queen were sending as veedor [royal inspector] of the fleet, who saw nothing because he was not in a place where he could see it. After the Admiral said it, it was seen once or twice; and it was like a small wax candle that rose and lifted up, which to few seemed to be an indication of land. 
 
   The explorers did, indeed make landfall the next morning.”
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   A posthumous portrait of Columbus
 
   During the Renaissance, leading scientists theorized about life on other planets although they had to be careful with Church authorities. Italian astronomer Giordano Bruno wrote, “There are countless constellations, suns, and planets; we see only the suns because they are luminous; the planets remain invisible because they are small and dark. There are also countless earths turning around their suns, neither worse nor less inhabited than our globe.” The Catholic Church burned him at the stake for his beliefs in the year A.D. 1600. This dampened any discussion of life on other planets for generations to come.
 
    [image: https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/6/65/Earlierbruno.jpg] 
 
   A contemporary engraving of Bruno
 
   In spite of that, the strange sightings continued both in the Old World and the New. The first recorded UFO sighting in the United States occurred in A.D. 1808. Cynthia Everett, a 24 year old teacher in Camden, Maine, kept a diary during the early years of the 19th century. Most of her writing recounts the usual day-to-day affairs in the northernmost state of the new nation, documenting school activities, the harvest, and other mundane matters. The diary makes interesting reading for historians but contains nothing ground shaking until the entry for July 22, 1808: “About 10 o’clock I saw a very strange appearance. It was a light which proceeded from the East. At first sight, I thought it was a Meteor, but from its motion, I soon perceived it was not. It seemed to dart at first as quickly as light, and appeared to be in the atmosphere, but lowered toward the ground and kept on at an equal distance, sometimes ascending and sometimes descending. It moved round in the then visible Horizon, (it was not very light) and then returned back again.”
 
   Could this have been a natural phenomenon? Everett certainly had no explanation for it, and she was an educated woman. Unlike most modern people, she saw the night sky every night without the obscurations of pollution and streetlights. She was well acquainted with the stars and planets and wouldn’t make the basic mistakes that many modern UFO spotters do. Numerous modern UFO reports talk of lights bobbing around and changing color on the horizon before disappearing. When those who saw the lights were questioned, the western horizon was invariably the one on which the lights were seen, and what people saw was a bright star or planet whose light was diffused through the Earth’s atmosphere and heat was radiated off the land. The “UFO” disappeared, of course, because the Sun set. The author herself once tried to talk down one eager, first-time camper who had made such a sighting, to no success.
 
   Everett, however, was an experienced observer who recorded natural phenomena such as earthquakes and the appearance of a comet. Her son was the captain of a clipper ship and knew how to navigate by the stars. The motion of the object doesn’t sound like a star, planet, or meteor. In addition, no indication has been found that she sought attention for her sighting as no surviving press reports exist. Could this have been a genuine early UFO sighting? Ufologists certainly think so, and it has become well-known as the first recorded sighting in the United States.
 
   


 
  

 Chapter 2: The Great Airship Mystery, America’s First UFO Flap
 
   The 19th century saw a rise in UFO sightings and the first of many blurry photographs. On August 12, 1883, Mexican astronomer José Bonilla of the Zatecas Observatory took a series of photos of a fleet of cigar and spindle-shaped objects passing across the face of the sun. He counted a total of 150 objects, and his images are perhaps the first UFO photograph that has yet to be debunked.
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   One of Bonilla’s pictures
 
   In UFO parlance, a “flap” is a wave of UFO sightings in a certain period or geographic area. The first true flap was in 1896 and 1897 in the United States when thousands of people witnessed what they called airships in their skies. 
 
   What’s interesting is that airships and dirigibles were on the public’s mind much in those years. The age was the age of invention, and a great many experiments in building lighter-than-air craft were taking place. Successful flights had been taking place as early as the 1860s, but these airships were cumbersome and slow and did not match up to the fast-moving and wide-ranging airships of the “Great Airship Mystery” unless some government had a secret and vast fleet of highly advanced airships.
 
    The sighting that sparked the wave occurred on November 18, 1896, in Sacramento, California. Several witnesses saw a large airship pass low over the city at night and heard men singing on board. A few days later, airships were sighted all up and down the West Coast. Many of the sightings came from police officers, and the general assumption was that these flying machines were the products of human experiments, at least until the Sacramento Bee published a letter on November 24, 1896, from one of its readers who went only by the initials “G.W.” explaining what was going on:
 
   “The Lord Commissioner of Mars has evidently sent one of his electric aircraft on an exploring expedition to the younger and larger worlds.
 
   “The airships are constructed of the lightest and strongest fabrics, and the machinery is of the most perfect electrical work.
 
   “Aluminum and glass, hardened by the same chemical process that forms our diamonds, contribute the chief material of their most perfect airships.
 
   “When in use, these vehicles, at a distance, have the appearance of a ball of fire, being operated wholly by the electric current generated on such vessels.
 
   “The speed of our Martian ships is very great, and can be regulated to the rapidity of a thousand miles a second.
 
   “In fact, with the Martian inventions, space is almost annihilated. These aerial craft can so adopt their courses that when they desire to rest, they can anchor within certain degrees of latitude [sic] and wait for the revolutions of the earth, for instance, to bring any particular locality desired, much nearer to them, without the necessity of any aerial navigation.”
 
   Airships had been spotted in the skies of America and Europe since the 1850s, but this was on a far greater scale. Soon the sightings spread out of California to the Midwest and Eastern states. By 1897, the whole nation was seeing them. One account comes from the April 13, 1897, edition of the Burlington (Iowa) Hawk-Eye:
 
   “It was first seen on the northern horizon, and about the only persons who were up at the time and were not seeing things double were a few newspaper men, police officers and a guard at the house of correction. All of these are willing to make oath they saw an airship come from the north a little before the break of daylight and that it disappeared again, reversing itself and fading from view in the north.
 
   “Last night the stranger made its appearance again in the heavens around nine o’clock. It came from the northeast from out over the lake [Lake Michigan]. There was no possibility of a mistake this time. Thousands of people saw it, and in a few minutes they were following the machine as it floated over the city. It traveled towards the southwest until it reached a point directly over the City Hall, where it stopped for a quarter of an hour. Then the excitement in the downtown districts became intense. It was reported that attempts were being made to anchor the machine.
 
   “A Mr. Mayor, a traveling man, had a field glass ranged on the machine and said he distinctly saw four men in it. Station keeper Harry Moore of the Central Police Station saw it distinctly and was one of the few who at the same time did not lose his head. He says: “The machine, or whatever it was, anchored or stopped directly over the city hall. The light which I saw was suspended from a large, dark oval-shaped object, the shadow of which could be distinctly seen. In fact it could be seen so plainly that I could discern the wheels working. I did not see anyone in it, but anyone who claims that the thing I saw floating over City Hall is a star simply doesn’t know what he is talking about. I saw it too distinctly to be fooled. It was, I should judge, about 1,000 feet above the city hall.”
 
   “After hovering for about 15 minutes, it went back and disappeared in the northeast.”
 
   Interestingly, this account quotes a police officer by name, something a creative journalist would not do if he was simply making up the story out of whole cloth.
 
   While eyewitnesses generally described the airship crews as human, or at least human looking, this wasn’t the case with all reports. The Daily Mail of Stockton, California, reported on November 19, 1896, the experience of Colonel H.G. Shaw. Shaw was driving his buggy along a country lane when he spotted an airship that had landed in a nearby field. He said it was metallic in color and totally featureless except for a rudder. He estimated it measured some twenty-five feet wide and one hundred fifty feet long. Three slim figures measuring some seven feet tall approached him, trying to speak to him in some strange warbling language. They studied his buggy for a while and then tried to drag him into the airship. Shaw resisted and found that the creatures were quite weak. Eventually, they gave up and returned to their ship, which shot away at high speed. This appears to be an early case of an attempted alien abduction, something that would be reported with increasing frequency from the 1960s to the present day.
 
   Another sighting that same month was reported in the Yates Center Farmer’s Advocate, a small-town newspaper in Kansas, on April 23, 1896. It reported on a sighting by a local farmer, an old Indian fighter named Alexander Hamilton. On the night of April 19, around 10:30 p.m., he was awakened by a disturbance among his cattle. Cattle rustlers were still around in those days, not to mention predatory animals, so Hamilton went out to check.
 
   He spotted “an airship slowly descending upon my cow lot about 40 rods from the house.” He gathered his son and a tenant, rushed back inside, grabbed some axes, and went to confront the intruders. They then got a better look at the airship, which had descended to about thirty feet above the ground. It was about three hundred feet long with a transparent, brightly lit undercarriage and “six of the strangest beings I ever saw.” Sadly, Hamilton did not elaborate on this detail.
 
   The airship shone a beam of light on Hamilton and “a great turbine wheel, about 30 feet in diameter, which was slowly revolving below the craft began to buzz, and the vessel rose as lightly as a bird.” Then, Hamilton noticed that a cable was fitted from the airship to the neck of one of his two-year-old heifers. When the airship got to an altitude of about three hundred feet, it reeled in the heifer and moved out of sight.
 
   The next morning, a neighbor found the remains of the heifer in his field—only the head, legs, and hide-- and told Hamilton. This may very well be the first reported case of cattle mutilation, a phenomenon that became common in the Midwest and Southwest in the 1970s and continues to remain a mystery to this day. Thus two of the mainstays of the modern UFO phenomenon—alien abduction and cattle mutilation—have their roots in the “Great Airship Mystery” of the late nineteenth century.
 
   April of 1897 was a good month for airships, with sightings in at least twenty states. Sometimes multiple airships were seen, and on April 17, sightings occurred in Michigan, Iowa, Missouri, and Texas. After the summer of 1897, the sightings died down although they never entirely went away for the next couple of decades. Reports are remarkably consistent, cigar-shaped ships with undercarriages. The crew was generally described as human although sometimes the crew stated they were from Mars.
 
   


 
  

Chapter 3: Early 20th Century Sightings
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   The cover of a 1929 edition of Science Wonder Stories
 
   While at the dawn of the airship age, people saw fleets of airships in the skies; at the dawn of the airplane age, they began to see airplanes. The Wright brothers made their famous flight at Kitty Hawk on December 17, 1903, not long after the great wave of airship sightings had died down. The flight made international headlines, and soon, they and other experimenters were rapidly improving their designs. Wilbur Wright managed to fly seventy-seven miles in two hours, thirty minutes on December 31, 1908. The next year, the Frenchman Louis Blériot flew from Calais to Dover, crossing the English Channel. Airplanes were all over the news, and no one had any more time for mysterious airships from Mars.
 
   In 1909 and 1910, a wave of aircraft sightings that seemed very similar to the airship sightings occurred. Like the airships, the aircraft had bright lights that would often shine down on observers. The ships flew in foul weather that the primitive planes of the time couldn’t handle, and they passed overhead in sizes and numbers that simply didn’t exist in those years.
 
   Soon, enough airplanes were in the sky that the “ghost plane” craze died down, only to be replaced by a ghostly variant of humanity’s next flying invention—the rocket. Crude rockets powered by gunpowder had been developed in China in medieval times, but Nazi Germany took and turned them into a potent weapon. The V-1 and V-2 rockets terrorized London and other cities during the Blitz, but one British official admitted the Allies were better off having the Nazis spend so much money on them: “[T]hose of us who were seriously engaged in the war were very grateful to Wernher von Braun. We knew that each V-2 cost as much to produce as a high-performance fighter airplane. We knew that German forces on the fighting fronts were in desperate need of airplanes, and that the V-2 rockets were doing us no military damage. From our point of view, the V-2 program was almost as good as if Hitler had adopted a policy of unilateral disarmament." 
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   A V-2 rocket being fired during World War II
 
   During the attacks, a few went astray, and one landed in neutral Sweden, causing quite a stir in the Swedish army. The Swedes would be stirred up even more a year after the war ended. On May 24, 1946, two security guards in Landskrona-Pasten spotted a cigar-shaped craft that emitted sparks from its rear. It was about the size of a small airplane and flew near the same speed an estimated one hundred meters above ground. This sounds like a rocket except for the rather slow speed, and no one thought too much of it until more people started seeing more. By autumn thousands of sightings had occurred, mostly at night and mostly at altitudes of between five hundred and one thousand meters. Some were seen approaching Sweden from the Baltic Sea before turning around and going back over the water.
 
   Skeptics said the objects could be meteors, and this explanation could take care of some of the sightings. Amateur astronomers can often view numerous bright meteors called “bolides,” and they appear as bright balls of light with significant tails. Mistaking them for being cigar-shaped is possible. Some emit “sparks” from their tails as pieces of the meteor break off in the atmosphere. 
 
   The problem with the meteor theory, however, is that many people saw the structures of the ghost rockets clearly enough to estimate their size, and trained observers such as Greek and British air force personnel also saw the rockets and were convinced that they were, indeed, rockets. Bolides might explain some of the sightings, but not all.
 
   The natural conclusion was that the Soviet Union had captured some German scientists and were making them develop a new version of the V-1 and V-2. American and British experts were brought in, and the British built a tracking station to detect the ghost rockets. Both the Swedes and the British managed to track numerous objects on radar, but an explanation remained elusive. Several crashes were reported, but aside from some bits of slag that appeared to have been heated to intense temperatures, no rocket or rocket fragment was ever known to have been recovered.
 
   Still, the “Soviet rocket” theory would seem to make sense, and the large number of sightings could be written off as mass hysteria sparked by a few dozen real events, except soon these so-called “ghost rockets” were appearing in Finland, Greece, Spain, Portugal, French Morocco, and Turkey. Some of these countries were far too distant from Soviet borders to be reached by the rocket technology of the time. The question of why the Soviets would test supposedly secret technology over foreign nations for all to see is also a problem. It wasn’t like the Soviets lacked sufficient room in their own country. Another question was how the technology could be so advanced. Some of the rockets spotted in Greece by British officers at their base in Thessaloniki were estimated to fly as high as ten thousand meters and to make precision moves of hundreds of miles.
 
   The “ghost rockets” disappeared as quickly as they arrived. Virtually none were spotted after 1946. While cigar-shaped UFOs are part of the UFO canon, they tended to hover or move slowly, not to streak across the sky like rockets. If the “ghost rockets” were really a Soviet experiment, their scientists appeared to have moved on to other things. Interestingly, the Soviet archives have been open for more than a decade now, and no evidence has surfaced of the Soviet Union sending large numbers of rockets, or any rockets for that matter, over neighboring countries, let alone clear across the Mediterranean to harass the Moroccans.
 
   Up to this point, the UFOs had kept Earth at arm’s length. Except for a few mentions of meeting the occupants of the airships, little was recorded of aliens landing and interacting with human beings. That changed in the 1940s. UFOs purportedly landed, signaled to people on the ground, or even crashed. The most famous UFO crash case in the world was the one at Roswell in 1947, covered later in this book, but it was far from being the only one or even the first. 
 
   One early case occurred sometime in April 1941 in southeastern Missouri when the Reverend William Huffman of the Southern Baptist Church in Cape Girardeau was called to give last rites to what he was told were some victims of an airplane crash. The time was around eight or nine o’clock in the evening, and Huffman was brought out a few miles from town to a farmer’s field where he was startled to see a metallic disc stuck in the earth with smoldering vegetation all around it. Part of the disc was broken open. Peering inside, the reverend saw small chairs that he said were the size for a child set in front of panels with dials and gauges. On the interior wall, was a band of unidentifiable metal running around the entire circumference covered in what looked like Egyptian hieroglyphs.
 
   Outside the craft lay three small, gray beings with large heads and giant, oval, black eyes set vertically in the face. Otherwise, their faces were all but featureless, with slits for the nose and mouth and no ears. They were about four feet tall and wore crinkly metallic suits. The three creatures appeared to have been ejected from the craft. Two were dead while one was drawing its final breaths. Rev. Huffman went over and gave each of them the Last Rites.
 
   Several civilians and firefighters were already at the site, plus a local newspaper reporter. Soon they were joined by military personnel who told the reverend and everyone else not to reveal what they had seen. The soldiers then sent the people home, and no one ever saw the craft or the aliens again. The reporters never published their story, and the reverend only told his family. Many years later, his granddaughter Charlette Mann decided to break the family’s silence.
 
   One of the photographers at the scene gave Rev. Huffman a photo of one of the aliens which Mann had seen. She recalled that it showed a small humanoid, about four feet tall with thin, seemingly boneless, arms and perhaps three fingers to each hand. The creature was being held up by two police officers. The creature had wide, black eyes, a large head, and a sort of metallic suit. Mann’s description corresponds closely to the typical alien “Grey,” one of the most common alien races seen by eyewitnesses. The photo is no longer in Mann’s possession and appears to have disappeared.
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   A common depiction of the Grey alien
 
   While the Cape Girardeau crash was covered up, covering up what happened in Los Angeles the following year was impossible. It was February 25, and Pearl Harbor had been bombed just a few months before. The United States had been brought into World War II, and the nation was on high alert.
 
   Early that morning, at 2:25 a.m., city residents were shaken from their beds by the thudding of anti-aircraft fire. The Army’s 37th Coast Artillery Brigade had spotted an object flying slowly over Culver City and heading towards Santa Monica. Reports of just what the army was shooting at vary. Some said the target was a group of silvery objects while the majority of eyewitnesses said it looked like a giant blimp. Whatever the target was, it got almost 2,000 rounds of anti-aircraft explosive fired at it as it moved at a sedate pace over the city, taking half-an-hour to go about 20 miles before heading south and disappearing. Many people on the ground insisted that several of the anti-aircraft rounds made direct hits on the object to no apparent effect. In response to what everyone assumed was a Japanese attack, authorities ordered the city blacked out from 2:25 a.m. to 7:21 a.m. This was wartime, and no one wanted to take any chances. Yet no bombs were dropped, and the object did not look like any sort of craft the Japanese were known to operate.
 
   This sighting came at a cost. Several people were injured by falling shrapnel from the hundreds of anti-aircraft detonations, and a few were killed and injured in car crashes as they craned their necks to see the overhead display. The government never issued a full report on the incident, and it was soon forgotten as the epic events of the war eclipsed it.
 
   


 
  

Chapter 4: Kenneth Arnold and the Second UFO Flap
 
   While UFOs were well established by the mid-20th century, they had not captured the public imagination until the widespread media coverage of a strange incident, one that was witnessed by a trained observer who inadvertently coined the term “flying saucer.” On June 24, 1947, businessman Kenneth Arnold was flying his Callair single-engine, private plane over Mt. Rainier in Washington helping out with the search for a downed Marine transport airplane. While he didn’t see any trace of the plane, what he did see propelled him into the national spotlight and into history.
 
   While flying at around 9,200 feet with clear skies and excellent visibility, a flash of reflected light brought his attention away from where he was peering down at the ground and to a point to his left near the mountain. There he saw nine “peculiar looking aircraft” flying in a V formation. What caught his attention was that he couldn’t see any wings or tails on the craft. Every now and then one of craft dipped or slightly changed course and caught the sun, flashing the same way that had originally caught Arnold’s attention. After a few seconds they passed in front of the mountain, and he could plainly see them against the backdrop of snow: “He saw that they were all discs, with no wings or tails, and the lead one seemed to be more of a boomerang shape. Arnold stared at them for more than two minutes before they moved out of sight. When he later spoke with reporters, he said, “I was fascinated by this formation of aircraft. They didn’t fly like any aircraft I had ever seen before. In the first place, their echelon formation was backward from that practiced by our Air Force. The elevation of the first craft was greater than that of the last. They flew in a definite formation, but erratically. As I described them at the time, their flight was like speed boats on rough water or similar to the tail of a Chinese kite that I once saw blowing in the wind. Or maybe it would be best to describe their flight characteristics as very similar to a formation of geese, in a rather diagonal chain-like line, as if they were linked together. As I put it to newsmen in Pendleton, Oregon, they flew like a saucer would if you skipped it across the water.”
 
   Thus, the term “flying saucer” was born, and soon it was on everyone’s lips. The year 1947 brought another big big flap. Arnold’s sighting set off hundreds of similar reports. It was also the year of the world’s most famous alleged flying saucer crash.
 
   


 
  

Chapter 5: Roswell
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   “The many rumors regarding the flying disc became a reality yesterday when the intelligence office of the 509th Bomb group of the Eighth Air Force, Roswell Army Air Field, was fortunate enough to gain possession of a disc through the cooperation of one of the local ranchers and the sheriff's office of Chaves County. The flying object landed on a ranch near Roswell sometime last week. Not having phone facilities, the rancher stored the disc until such time as he was able to contact the sheriff's office, who in turn notified Maj. Jesse A. Marcel of the 509th Bomb Group Intelligence Office. Action was immediately taken and the disc was picked up at the rancher's home. It was inspected at the Roswell Army Air Field and subsequently loaned by Major Marcel to higher headquarters." – A press release issued by the Roswell Army Air Field, July 8, 1947
 
   The essence of the event commonly known as the Roswell Crash is that someone saw something in the sky during the summer of 1947. Days later someone else found some odd foil, paper and wood on the grounds of a ranch in the New Mexico desert nearly a hundred miles from Roswell. A day or two after that, the debris was taken to a military airbase in Roswell, NM, where it remained overnight before the military flew it to another airbase in Ohio. The story of the Roswell Crash tends to focus on New Mexico, not on the traveling debris found on the ground.
 
   Ironically, the Roswell Crash never happened in Roswell. That’s not to say there was no 1947 crash. Something did appear on the ground that appeared to have come from the sky—but it wasn’t found anywhere near Roswell. Part of what was found was eventually moved to the airbase in Roswell where it remained overnight, inspiring the name the Roswell Crash. 
 
   Roswell is known for its military history. For that reason, the name is at least familiar to many people beyond Chaves County, NM. Few people even in Chaves County could find the village in Lincoln County, NM, near where the crash actually did occur. Even today, the nearest village, Corona, is home to less than 200 residents. 
 
   That is why, when anyone mentions UFOs, the Roswell Crash springs to mind, even though there was no crash there in 1947. Nevertheless, the impact of whatever did happen that summer continues to impact American culture. 
 
   At the very least, the Roswell Crash has become a meme. Even among those who do not believe there was a crash at all, the vast majority of people recognize the reference especially after the television show The X-Files[1] and assume that it allegedly did (or did not) crash within the city limits of Roswell. To most people, Roswell means UFOs.
 
   The story of how the Roswell Crash became so widely known is a complicated one. Perhaps part of the reason was due to that specific time in history. In 1947, America was undergoing tremendous change. Much of that change involved secrecy and disillusionment. Americans learned that on December 7, 1941, when Japan bombed Pearl Harbor. At the time, Hawaii wasn’t even a state - it was merely a U.S. territory and had been since 1897 - but it was home to an American naval base, Pearl Harbor. It was also the closest United States target to Japan. 
 
   In September 1940, the United States put an embargo on Japan preventing the tiny country from importing such basic needs as steel, scrap iron and jet fuel. The embargo was the U.S. response to Japan taking over northern French Indochina, insisting that Japan withdraw from both China and Indochina. Japan opted for war.
 
   Rather than head for the mainland, Japan targeted eight U.S. aircraft carriers. Four of the carriers were successfully sunk. Others were damaged, but survived. The relentless attack went on for seven hours and killed 2,403 Americans and wounding 1,178. 
 
   America was in shock. Hawaii was beautiful and truly sweet. It was the home of sunshine and sugar, coconuts and pineapple. It was a vacation spot to most people. Not only was the U.S. military attacked but so was the loveliness of this tropical island. The extensive attack sent a loud and devastating message that, on that day, Japan had the power and skill to attack in stealth, destroy a beautiful and valuable American holding, and that they had no qualms about brutally attacking American citizens. 
 
   Americans learned that day, like no other, that it is imperative to watch the skies for more than rainbows and sunsets. Americans discovered that frightening things could come from the sky. The skies could be deadly.
 
   By the time the war ended, the U.S. had dropped atomic bombs on Hiroshima and Nagasaki. A number of scientists and some politicians understood to some extent what hell the sky might unleash if an atomic bomb was launched. Civilians did not. It was not until photographic evidence surfaced of the dead and dying that those at home realized what had been done on their behalf half a world away. It was incomprehensively cruel. It was effective, but cruel. And it had come from the sky. 
 
   The men directly involved in those historic events remained a close crew.  They were the 509th Bomb Group and they were stationed in Roswell, NM. They were the individuals who had delivered that payload not once, not twice, but three times. 
 
   Afterward, they made their homes in Roswell. They shopped at the local grocery store and went to the local movie theaters. Their children studied geography and math alongside the local civilian children. These men walked among us, these men who had done such a monstrous thing even though it was in retaliation for what was done against us.
 
   No wonder there were eyes to the sky. Americans knew that something could fall from the sky at any time and that nothing was sacred. Anyone could attack. Anyone could be attacked. And the worst thing imaginable—unimaginable to most—had come from the sky. No wonder Americans were looking up. 
 
   Everyone’s ears and eyes were to the sky. It seemed everyone had a story. Personal accounts and theories are generously mixed with the facts about the alleged Roswell crash. More accounts surface all the time that were once marked as top secret. The government has released many of them, revealing nothing more than was known from the moment something appeared on the ground in 1947. But everything needed to be investigated, especially if it came from on high. 
 
   By then, Maj. Jesse A. Marcel, was an intelligence officer for the 509th—those very soldiers who had dropped the atomic bombs. He was the first member of the military to visit the Roswell Crash site and his name became forever associated with whatever fell from the skies. 
 
   Oddly enough, the public did not seem to make a connection between the atomic bomb squad and the fact that they were the soldiers who investigated this crash. It is probably fortunate that the public did not make the connection. 
 
   Fear would have been rampant had the masses suspected that the Japanese were attacking Roswell in retaliation for Pearl Harbor specifically because the 509th Bomb Squad was there. Eventually, Steven Hawking warned we should “beware of aliens as they may not come in peace.”[2] But, in 1947, fear seemed to be in short supply in Roswell.
 
   Perhaps the horror of Pearl Harbor and the atomic bombs had overwhelmed everyone. Or, perhaps they felt it was their turn to be visited from the sky. 
 
   Whatever the case, Maj. Marcel’s son and namesake, Dr. Jesse Marcel, Jr. and Jesse’s wife, Linda, kept the major’s name at the forefront by writing the major’s untold story.[3] The work published by the family is but one of three books, by various authors, bearing the name “The Roswell Legacy.” It is only one of numerous accounts, some firsthand and others secondhand or created from a greater distance. Each tell the story, with minor changes and embellishments. None tell a complete story. 
 
   Following the 1947 media coverage, the story had been largely forgotten for a couple of decades. It was 30 years later until little Jesse Marcel, Jr., who had been 11 years old in 1947, spoke to researcher Stanton Friedman about what he remembered.[4] By then, it was 1978 and Marcel recalled his father waking him from a sound sleep to ask this pre-teen to help him haul the boxes of the possible remains of an alien spaceship from his car in the driveway into their house. He claimed that, in the middle of the night, they rummaged through the bits and pieces on the Marcel family’s kitchen table.[5] The story has taken on a life of its own since then and, like that box of fragments, has remained a mystery in spite of the FBI’s best efforts at transparency. 
 
   Along the way, other people have sheepishly come forward, fearing ridicule. Others have stepped forward brazenly challenging government response, the media and anyone else who differs with their opinion regardless of whether they believe the story or not about the 1947 Roswell Crash. 
 
   Oddly enough, an inordinate amount of the debate over the Roswell Incident, as the U.S. Air Force referred to it, has to do with the exact date when it happened. Newspapers began to report about it by early July, 1947. But, there is still no proof of precisely when the Roswell Crash, or the Roswell Event, or the Roswell Incident—whichever term one chooses to use—happened. For all the curiosity the story has raised over the past half century, no one was curious enough about looking into the matter for some days after it appeared to have happened.
 
   Saucers were seemingly everywhere the summer of 1947. Browse newspapers from that year and you will see news story after news story and not on some inside page. Not in small town newspapers lacking local news. These stories garnered front page coverage and were well-reported with details identifying people, places and events by name. Unfortunately, some authors are not above treating an interview by the National Enquirer tabloid with the same respect as a government press release.[6] It was, in fact, a mere mention in the National Enquirer that brought attention to Roswell. In 1978, the tabloid mentioned in a report that Maj. Marcel had recovered UFO debris in 1947. Later that year, others became intrigued and according to the U.S. Air Force, some of the researchers had located and interviewed more individuals claiming to have knowledge about UFO events in Roswell than the USAF even knew about. 
 
   Everyone seemed to be seeing saucers. The Albuquerque Journal reported that a member of the Navajo tribe, who worked at the reservation’s trading post, saw a disc on June 25, 1947. Another man reportedly saw a disc that day in the same area. It seemed there were saucers everywhere, Alaska, Washington, Oregon, California, Arizona, Idaho, Montana, Utah, Wyoming, Colorado, Texas, Kansas, Nebraska, South Dakota, North Dakota, Michigan and Iowa, as well as Mexico and Canada.. 
 
   The front page of the Journal included a story about flying saucers every day for days prior to the Roswell event. Perhaps it was not so surprising that a certain Mr. and Mrs. Dan Wilmot, sitting on their front porch in Roswell shortly before 10 p.m. on July 2, 1947, saw “two inverted saucers faced mouth to mouth.”[7] They reportedly had their sighting experience the same day as the Albuquerque paper ran other saucer stories. The Wilmot’s claimed the saucers were flying towards Corona, NM. 
 
   To further confuse the matter, there were actually two different crashes at Roswell. The one usually referred to as the Roswell Crash occurred in 1947. But, there was supposedly another in 1949 when more than what appeared to be balsa wood and foil was found; there were reported to be living and deceased beings among the wreckage.[8] In spite of that interesting twist, the 1947 event is the one generally referred to as the Roswell Crash. 
 
   Much of the real-time data written at the time of the 1947 crash has also been the victim of time. Some of the scanned documents made available to the public appear to have been mimeograph copies, clearly stamped “copy.” Mimeograph was a technology where copies were generated by literally copying images, via an inked sheet, creating pale lavender text on white paper. It was difficult to read from the moment a copy was created. Digital copies provided by The Vault are in reverse video, white text on a black background. To anyone unfamiliar with that technology, the copies appear to be intentionally difficult to read. They are not. They were considered cutting edge inventions in 1947. 
 
   There were real-time newspaper accounts. There were dated government documents, for those who choose to accept them as fact and the dates legitimate. Carey and Schmitt, and others, mention signed affidavits from witnesses, insisting on the validity of documents with legal seals. Such legal documents are legal in the court system of the U.S. government. Yet, some who insist such documents are above reproach still refuse to consider FBI and military documents the same authenticity and reliability.
 
   The morning after civilians got to play with items from the debris field, the military held their usual morning meeting. Col. Blanchard dictated a press release to First Lt. Walter G. Haut, who was the base’s public relations officer at Roswell. 
 
   “The many rumors regarding the flying disc became a reality yesterday when the intelligence office of the 509th Composite Group of the Eighth Air Force, Roswell Army Airfield, was fortunate enough to gain possession of a disc through the cooperation of one of the ranchers and the sheriff's office of Chaves County. 
 
   The flying object landed on a ranch near Roswell sometime last week. Not having phone facilities, the rancher stored the disc until such time as he was able to contact the sheriff's office, who in turn notified Major Jesse A. Marcel of the 509th Bomb Group intelligence office.
 
   Action was immediately taken and the disc was picked up at the rancher's home. It was inspected at the Roswell Army Airfield, and subsequently loaned by Major Jesse Marcel to higher headquarters.” [9]
 
 
   Before noon Haut hand-delivered the press release to the local press. With breakneck speed, the story hit the wire services and immediately went around the world.
 
   The term “loan” appeared to have been used loosely. There is no record of the debris being returned to Roswell or to Mac Brazel, had he wanted it. 
 
   The debris had been in Roswell for less than 12 hours before being flown to Fort Worth for the “highers” to evaluate. It seemed the brief and uneventful Roswell connection was over. But it was actually just the beginning. 
 
   That press release was the beginning of decades of stories, half a century of theories and an endless list of alleged conspiracies. The first suspicion began that very day with Lydia Sleppy at radio station KOAT in Albuquerque. 
 
   The Roswell radio station KSWS had the press release, but it was a small station and had no teletype machine. Reporter and part station owner, Johnny McBoyle, was frantic to get a scoop to ABC. This might be his chance for national fame.[10]
 
   Lydia, doing her job, typed as McBoyle dictated. She claimed to have only type a few sentences when the teletype machine stopped of its own accord. It was nothing new. The teletype machine was known to do that. 
 
   But here was something new. The teletype machine was replying to Lydia. “ATTENTION ALBUQUERQUE: DO NOT TRANSMIT. REPEAT DO NOT TRANSMIT THIS MESSAGE. STOP COMMUNICATION IMMEDIATELY.” Did it happen? The alleged response does not seem to have made it into the FBI’s Vault and the supposed sender gave no contact information, in an era when tracing a digital address was not an option. 
 
   While McBoyle and Sleppy stood by their story. As has become the case all too often, it has been speculated that Sleppy doesn’t recall the date because she was confusing it with a different crash. The other crash involved a dish-shaped saucer, which was not specifically described as part of the debris found by Mac Brazel. It does resemble the description of debris from at least one other event.
 
   McBoyle and Sleppy apparently did not save a copy of this message. Sleppy later claimed she could not even remember the date of this event. Most people would remember forever the day when a teletype machine responded to them before they sent the message the machine was answering. 
 
   The only way to send or receive via teletype involved the machine typing characters on a piece of paper. It would seem that someone would have saved this instance of a machine answering them back, interactively. But, no one did. It went in the trash. It was just the beginning of stories with no proof. 
 
   It isn’t clear how it happened, but the press release was released without the radio station’s assistance. The debris had arrived in Fort Worth and, in spite of Lydia Sleppy’s dubious experience, the press release had become a wire story. 
 
   Brigadier Gen. Roger Ramey called a press conference to be held at the Fort Worth Air Field at 4:45 p.m. No doubt Ramey was going to give details about what had been found. 
 
   The Fort Worth Star Telegraph sent one of the on-duty reporters to cover what his editor anticipated would be a routine story. James Bond Johnson happened to have a camera when he arrived, pen and paper in hand, and took the widely-distributed photos of Gen. Roger Ramey kneeling holding the debris from the Foster Ranch. Apparently the other members of the press were not expecting much from the general. No photographers were sent by any media outlet and Johnson was the only reporter who took a camera with him, doing double duty.
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   A zoomed photograph of the telegraph Ramey read
 
   Johnson said that his photos have become “the longest running story.”[11] Johnson retired from the newspaper business, left Texas for California and became a child psychologist and minister. Johnson had not been to Roswell, ever, until 2001. Again, the story gets murky so easily. Those famous photos of Ramey with the debris were taken by Johnson in Fort Worth, not in Roswell. 
 
   But never mind that, Johnson’s character was cast in the movie Roswell, along with the tradition of embellishment of the story. He said that the movie studio added another 15 fictional photographers to the scene. The studio told him it just did not look right that he was the only photographer. The facts didn’t seem relevant. 
 
   And, he wasn’t even a staff photographer. He was a reporter on duty who was there to write a story—and happened to have a camera with him. So goes much of the story surrounding the Roswell Crash. Yes, something crashed. No one knows quite when. No one knew where it came from. Bits of the crash debris did eventually arrive in Roswell, but within hours it was shipped off to Fort Worth. There is barely a Roswell connection to the entire Roswell Crash story. 
 
   Even Johnson’s original photos have never been in Roswell. Copies of his photos are on display at the UFO Museum in Roswell, but the originals were sold by the Fort Worth Star Telegraph to the University of Texas-Arlington.
 
   Johnson’s photos are among the best and the only photos taken of the debris. The media in Roswell were not allowed to photograph anything and, in their rush to run the story, they really had very little time to do so. On the other hand, it doesn’t appear that the military ever offered them that chance. After all, the press release was hand-delivered to the media. They were not invited to the air base.
 
   Books written about the Roswell Crash are littered with grainy photographs, line drawings, charcoal sketches and an assortment of convincing film and photos professionally produced by movie studios. They include images of the crash site, the press conference, alien bodies, and reproductions of debris that may or may not be accurate. Reality quickly became lost in the simple facts. 
 
   Military personnel posed for photos with bits of metallic material. Johnson’s photos hit the wire service and they appeared in newspapers and books. There seemed to not be suspicion about the artifacts. In fact, they seemed like finds from a treasure hunt, proudly displayed in photos. 
 
   Instead of addressing the original press release dictated by Col. William Blanchard, and issued by Haut, that a flying disk had been recovered, Blanchard recanted the story.[12] Blanchard had been the officer in charge of the first atomic bomb crew. He knew the value of secrecy and he knew, just as well, what good and what danger can come from the skies. Yet, he notified the media, apparently according to orders or at least government approval. He had dictated the memo confirming the findings. Now he contradicted the initial story within hours. He, along with others throughout the story, claimed to have been ordered to be silent on the matter.
 
   It was indeed a short-lived story. Ramey, who was Blanchard’s superior, superseded the original claim and declared that the find was merely a weather balloon. The explanation came so quickly that it immediately raised questions which continue today. 
 
   And, then the debris was on the move again. This time, it was sent to Wright Airfield in Ohio, home to a top secret research group, the Foreign Technology Division.[13] 
 
   The myriad of odd events were just the beginning of what continues to feed into the conspiracy theory that something more happened. Part of the mystery has to do with who was handling the whole affair. The CIA was in charge, yet they were hauling around bits of suspected airships and fiddling with them around the kitchen table with their own children.
 
   Volumes continue to be written about the Roswell Crash. But, quantity doesn’t always mean quality. Especially today, anyone can write a book or create a website. That does not mean that the words are accurate. 
 
   Well-respected researchers have given the benefit of the doubt to the possibility that there was an alien crash in 1947. In 1992, the Massachusetts Institute of Technology held the Abduction Study Conference,[14] organized and attended by well-respected scientists.
 
   At the opposite end of the spectrum are deathbed confessions and childhood memories. The accounts are well-written by Pulitzer Prize winners like Carl Sagan[15] and by hacks who can’t even bother to learn the names of the players. In 2007, authors Thomas Carey and Donald R. Schmitt used the very phonetic spelling of Mac Brazel’s name, referring to him as “Mack” Brazel.[16] They continued to use their own spelling of Mac’s name in future writings.[17]
 
   While the site is the subject of the crash, the location—the Foster Ranch near Corona—is barely mentioned, aside from embellishment. Some authors don’t even include Corona in the index of their books. Thus, the myth of the 1947 Roswell Crash continues to be given life, even though the crash occurred 75 miles away. 
 
   While the Roswell Crash, and any reported UFO sighting, seems to be an anomaly, The Vault reveals that there were a total of 122 UFO sightings in 1947. While that seems like an absolute plethora of things flitting about, it is a fraction of the 1,501 sightings in 1952.
 
   By autumn 1947, President Truman created MJ-12, a secret research and development project.[18] It was a sort of committee created within the National Security Council. Known more formally as the Majestic-12, it reportedly was created specifically to conduct serious research into just what did happen at the Foster Ranch. Like any organized religion, MJ-12 had its own spiritual guide, or operational manual. None of the documentation of the existence of MJ-12 can be traced. It is as if the very heavens opened up and delivered this very complex system of discovery complete with code names and an admission that there are “black” or covert projects managed by the U.S. government. 
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   An alleged document from MJ-12
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   An FBI document describing “flying saucers”
 
   Eventually, the government confessed that they did know what crashed in 1947. It was not a weather balloon. It was a very special top secret group of balloons giving birth to Project Mogul. According to Randle and other sources, there were Project Mogul Leaders and numbered Launches. So, technically the Roswell Crash was not “a” balloon. It was a series of connected balloons.
 
   Besides, the project had an exotic name. Who wouldn’t want to be a mogul? Actually, the term is always spelled “Project MOGUL” by the military. 
 
   It is more likely that no one wanted to talk about Project MOGUL because of its focus. It existed in an attempt to determine if the U.S. was about to be under nuclear attack. It was deemed best that the public not think about that likelihood.
 
   While there are ongoing believers and non-believers, there appears to be ongoing committees, societies, acronyms and the like. Proving, or disproving, anything has itself become a religion. Nothing much seems to be accomplished after all this. Regardless of what facts appear to be revealed, someone is at the ready to challenge them. 
 
   


 
  

Chapter 6: Flying Saucers Get Serious
 
   The United States wasn’t the only country experiencing alien visitations in 1947. Dramatic sightings were occurring all over the globe. On August 14, R. L. Johannis, a painter, was out in the countryside near Villa Santina in northeastern Italy with his easel and brushes when he saw that a thirty-foot, disc-shaped craft had landed nearby. Out of it emerged two child-sized beings about three feet tall. They had green skin and large, plum-colored eyes. Unlike with most alien sightings, these aliens had prominent noses, but like many other alien reports, they appeared to be hairless. Their hands were claw like, with eight fingers each, four opposing four like regular fingers oppose the thumb. They wore dark blue coveralls with a bright red collar and belt.
 
   Johannis raised his hand in greeting, a gesture that he later surmised the aliens considered threatening; for as soon as he did so, one of the aliens touched a button on its belt; and a thin gas shot out enveloping him and causing Johannis to fall into a faint. He did not go completely unconscious, however, and watched as the aliens came over and examined his easel. This they took away with some apparent difficulty and returned to their craft. The UFO then rose into the air and simply disappeared.
 
   The year 1947 wasn’t just a big year for UFO sightings; it was the year that marked the permanent establishment of UFOs and aliens in the popular imagination. From then on, visitors from other planets would appear regularly.
 
   Throughout the late 1940s and 1950s, what many Ufologists like to call the “Golden Age” of UFO sightings, thousands of sightings were reported a year in the United States and countless more worldwide. Many of these sightings can be written off as people in an increasingly urban age not recognizing bright planets such as Venus or mistaking meteors for spaceships, but sometimes, the observers were too sophisticated for that. On May 24, 1949, three men and a woman were fishing in Rogue River, Oregon, around 5:00 in the afternoon when they saw a strange metallic disc that came from the northeast, hovered in the sky, and then departed in a southerly direction, picking up speed until it was as fast as a jet. They all got a good look at it because the sky was clear and the sun was behind them. Two of the men observed the object with 8x binoculars and gave the clearest descriptions. They said the object was rounded at the edges and thicker in the middle like a pancake, was metallic in color, and had a raised rectangular portion on the rear with a square black patch on it. The surface appeared dirty and spotted, and the rear looked rough and wrinkled. It must have been quite sizeable because the eyewitnesses said it appeared to be about two miles away and about a mile above the surface of the ground. No means of propulsion was visible, and no sound came from the object. The entire sighting lasted about three minutes.
 
   What’s intriguing about this case is that the two men who observed it through the binoculars were a draftsman and a wind-tunnel mechanic at the Ames Research Laboratory at Moffett Field. All employees had to have security clearance because they worked on various secret projects for the military, especially jet engines.
 
   The two men, whose names have been redacted in the U.S. Air Force report, informed the Ames Research Laboratory chief of security about their experience, and he got in touch with the Air Force which in turn interviewed all five witnesses. The official explanation the Air Force gave was that the men saw a radar kite, a balloon supporting a radar reflector used in radar tests and training. The Air Force stated, “These devices are of aluminum sheet, approximately five feet on a side, roughly diamond shaped and containing a double set of triangular fins on the top side. These are carried aloft by gas-filled balloons approximately two feet in diameter when they leave the earth. When these devices reach high enough altitude, the expanding gases cause the balloon to burst, and the devices, known as ‘kites,’ fold and drift earth ward. It is possible that one of these devices from one of these radar installations may have been blown as far north as Gold Beach, Oregon, on 24 May 1949.”
 
   Some serious problems exist with the explanation. First off, the witnesses saw no balloon, and radar kites cannot fly off at the speed of a jet. Also, the nearest Air Force base was some three hundred miles to the south in San Francisco, a long way for a balloon to travel especially when weather records show that the wind was blowing to the east, not to the north, all day.
 
   Sometimes the UFOs seemed to be defying all attempts to dismiss them, like when they appeared en masse over Farmington, New Mexico, on March 17, 1950. For three consecutive days, residents were treated to aerial displays of silvery discs numbering from a few dozen to, according to some estimates, upwards of 500. Some witnesses said they saw one that was larger than the rest and red in color that they took to be the command ship. The objects would appear for about an hour, flying at all angles and swooping towards each other before breaking off at right angles. All three days they appeared from 11:00 a.m. to noon. On the third day they returned at 3:00 p.m.
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   A photograph purported to show the Farmington UFO sighting
 
   The March 18, 1950, edition of the Farmington Times reported, “One witness did a triangulation sighting on one of the objects and estimated its speed at about 1,000 miles an hour, and estimated its size as approximately twice that of a B-29. [the B-29 has a length of 99 ft. and a wingspan of 141 ft.] …One of the most impressive accounts came from Harold F. Thatcher, head of the Farmington unit of the Soil Conservation service. Thatcher made a triangulation on one of a number of flying craft. He said if it had been a B-29 it would have been 2,000 feet high and traveling more than 1000 miles per hour.”
 
   A local police officer dismissed the sightings as cotton fuzz floating high in the air. The locals dismissed his explanation, pointing out that they knew what cotton fuzz looked like, that it didn’t move in that fashion, that cotton fuzz was indeed in the air at the time of the sightings, and that the two objects were clearly different.
 
   The local paper reported that fully half of the town’s population had witnessed the spectacular display. Farmington is a small community - the 1950 U.S. Census counted three 3,637 people - but the local paper could not make up a story such as this and not be challenged.
 
   Another story that is difficult to challenge is one reported by two police officers. Patrolmen LeRoy A. Arboreen and B. Talada were patrolling through Dunellen, New Jersey, on the night of December 20, 1958, when they spotted a red, slowing object in the cloudless sky. They said it looked like a glowing coal that approached rapidly, growing in size until it was “as large as a ruler held at arm’s length.” It was lozenge shaped with a bright red body and surrounded by a pulsating red glow. The object stopped, hovered for a few seconds, made a left turn, and hovered for a few seconds more before shooting straight up and fading quickly out of sight in the distance.
 
   The 1950s concluded with UFOs being firmly established in the minds of the global population. Large private organizations run by enthusiasts were collating data on a vast number of sightings. Ufologists were finding interesting correlations between sightings, such as one reported on in April 1958 on the coast of Brazil.
 
   At around 6:00 in the morning, Wilson Lustosa was driving along the coastal road between Maceio and Parapueira when he spotted some fishermen by the shore staring at something. Curious, he got out. At first he saw nothing and only heard a loud humming that rose in volume. The fishermen pointed to a flying saucer that was coming in from over the sea and rapidly descending.
 
   Lustosa described it as quite large, perhaps fifteen to twenty meters high and slightly wider than it was tall. It was capped with a brilliantly glowing dome and was bisected by a horizontal band of square portholes. The upper part, above the windows and below the glowing dome, looked like aluminum while the lower section was darker. From the bottom trailed several streamers that looked like leather thongs.
 
   It moved to about 15 meters above the water and about forty meters away from the observers and then rocked back and forth for a moment before hovering motionless over the ocean. Lustosa noticed that a red light was shining from the square portholes except for those facing him and the fishermen. Lustosa got the impression that the light was blocked by the UFO’s occupants who were watching Lutosa and the fishermen from the portholes.
 
   Beneath the flying saucer, the witnesses could see the water boiling and rising up although it did not quite touch the object. The loud humming Lustosa had at first heard was all but gone now, being faintly audible only every now and then. The object then rose up and quickly fell back down to the same position with an ear-splitting, crashing noise. Over the next hour, the ship did this several times before finally flying away.
 
   This strange sighting shares some interesting details with other sightings both before and after. Several flying saucers have been described as having streamers flowing beneath them, and some nighttime reports talk of giant, glowing jellyfish hovering over the ocean. 
 
   Even the farthest corners of the globe have been visited by flying saucers. New Guinea is one of the remotest and most poorly explored regions in the world, with some tribes deep in the interior having little regular contact with the outside world. Back in 1959, much of the territory wasn’t even mapped. On June 26, 1959, at a remote Anglican mission headed by Reverend William Gill, the missionary and many of his flock saw a strange apparition in the late afternoon sky. At first, the reverend spotted a bright, white light approaching the mission from the northwest and descending. As it approached, he could see it was a disc-shaped object with a wide base and a narrower upper portion on which appeared four figures. Like many other sightings, it had a ring of glowing portholes around the center and a set of four “legs” that had the appearance of landing gear. Once it got to about one hundred meters above the mission, it stopped and hovered, occasionally sending up a blue ray into the sky at an angle of about forty-five degrees.
 
   Taking a closer look at the figures, they appeared human, and Rev. Gill assumed they were humans flying some sort of experimental aircraft, perhaps a military hovercraft. He had heard of UFOs but did not think that he was seeing one. Several sightings had already occurred in the area; and twice the previous April, Gill had seen a bright white light hovering over a nearby mountain; but this was a much closer contact. In his later interview with UFO investigators, Gill listed 37 other people who had seen the saucer, including some of his staff and numerous natives who lived on the mission. The craft stayed in sight for about four hours, which makes the sighting one of the longest on record.
 
   The next evening, the flying saucer came back. It appeared around 6:00 p.m. and once again hovered over the mission with four figures. Gill said that he had “no doubt that they are human.” Two other bright, white lights appeared above the craft, but they were so far away they appeared only as points of light.
 
   A couple of the “humans” were moving about on deck, bending over and then raising their arms as if “setting something up.” Meanwhile, one of the other crew was looking directly down at Gill and his friends. Gill waved, and to his astonishment, the figure waved back. Other people on the ground started waving, and soon all four figures on the craft were waving back. Some of the locals called to the crew to land and made waving motions with their arms in case they didn’t understand. Whether the crew understood or not isn’t clear because although the craft descended a little more, it never got very close and did not land.
 
   Once it grew dark, Gill asked one of the workers to fetch a flashlight which he used to send a series of long flashes at the UFO. The craft seemed to respond by wavering back and forth. Two of the figures continued with their strange movements, adjusting something out of sight, and a couple of times the blue ray reappeared.
 
   By this time, Gill and his companions had become somewhat accustomed to the craft. Perhaps, like Gill, his parishioners assumed it to be some sort of new terrestrial invention. Gill went to have dinner and then gathered his flock for evensong. When they came out, the sky had clouded over, visibility had become very poor, and they could no longer see the UFO. Then, at 10:40 p.m., a loud explosion occurred. Everyone assumed the sound had come from the craft, but the people never saw it again.
 
   This case was part of a wave of UFO sightings in New Guinea which numbered some sixty events over the course of a few weeks. Given the poor communications and isolated nature of many settlements in the interior, the actual number of sightings could be much higher.
 
   The flying saucers seemed determined to end the decade with a bang. There had been plenty of sightings, sure, but they really wanted some with multiple trained observers whose testimonies could not be doubted. On February 24, 1959, they got what they wanted, almost.
 
   That night, American Airlines Captain Peter W. Killian and First Officer James Dee were flying a DC-6B from Newark to Detroit. Conditions were quite clear, and they were flying at 8,500 feet when at 8:20 p.m., they spotted three lights to the south. At first Captain Killian thought the lights were the stars that make up the belt of the constellation Orion, but then he saw the actual constellation further up in the sky.
 
   The objects moved against the backdrop of the stars and waned and waxed in brightness; sometimes almost disappearing, and sometimes looking “brighter than any star.” Captain Killian radioed two other American Airlines pilots in the vicinity, and they, too, saw the mysterious lights. At least nine observers on the ground corroborated the pilots’ testimonies. At times the lights pulled ahead of the plane, only to drop back, yet they always kept a generally westward heading like the DC-6B. The rearmost light at times fell back from the other two, only to resume formation after a short time. The crew studied the lights for some forty-five minutes before they needed to land the plane, and they had to focus on other things.
 
   Captain Killian and the two planes he radioed weren’t the only air crews to notice the phenomenon. United Airlines flight 321 had also spotted the lights, and an American Airlines flight captained by A.D. Yates reported watching the lights from 8:40 p.m. to 9:10 p.m. during which time the lights paced his airplane to the south before pulling ahead, veering to the right, and moving off in a northwesterly direction.
 
   The Air Force investigated the case and came out with the explanation that an Air Force airborne refueling operation was underway at that time to the north of the DC-6B’s flight path. Major General W. P. Fisher, Air Force Director of Legislative Liaison, wrote to Senator Harry Byrd, “The investigation of this incident revealed that an Air Force refueling mission, involving a KC-97 and three B-47 aircraft, was flown in the vicinity of Bradford, Pennsylvania, at the time of the sighting by Captain Killian. The refueling operation was conducted at 17,000 feet altitude at approximately 230 knots true air speed (about 265 mph) for a period of approximately one hour.”
 
   Captain Killian dismissed the explanation. First off, he had seen the objects to the south, not to the north near Bradford as Fisher’s explanation placed the planes. Secondly, the general stated four planes were involved in the refueling operation when everyone only saw three lights. Also, when Captain Killian landed, he asked ground control if any refueling operations were underway and was told none were. He was an experienced pilot and emphatically stated that he knew a refueling operation when he saw one and that the three lights he and his crew saw were something else entirely.
 
   The Air Force later released a statement it claimed had been made by Captain Killian stating that he had been mistaken and that he could, indeed, have witnessed a refueling operation. The statement did not include Captain Killian’s signature.
 
   


 
  

Chapter 7: The U.S. Government Gets Involved
 
   The various flying saucer flaps got the attention of the governments of the United States and other nations. The world was gripped in a Cold War, and some officials wondered if the UFOs might be experimental craft from some hostile power, most likely the Soviet Union. The American government in particular wanted to investigate the phenomenon to find out if this might be the case as well as to calm public fears over what was appearing in the skies. Another motivation was to quash all the calls flooding into Air Force bases and police stations. Communications were limited in the mid-twentieth century, and every wave of sightings clogged up communication lines that might have been needed to defend against more terrestrial security threats.
 
   The first large-scale, official investigation came during the UFO flap of 1947. On December 30, 1947, Major General L. C. Cragie, director of research and development for the United States Air Force, authorized the study of the flying saucer problem. His statement carried the line “by command of the chief of staff.” The program was called Project Sign, and it would be the first of three known U.S. government studies of the UFO phenomenon.
 
   Project Sign was the shortest lived of the three studies. The study began on January 22, 1948, and reports were sent that August to Air Force Chief of Staff General Hoyt Vandenberg. The report started that too many sightings by reliable witnesses had occurred for the phenomenon to be a case of mass hysteria or mistaken natural phenomena and that the flying saucers could be visitors from another planet.
 
    [image: Hoyt S Vandenberg.jpg] 
 
   Vandenberg
 
   General Vandenberg was not amused. He ordered the researchers at Project Sign to keep their opinions to themselves and to find natural or psychological explanations for every sighting. The researchers tried but had to place numerous cases in a file marked “Unknowns.” As that file grew bigger, many of the researchers requested transfers. Their report was reissued stating that the crafts were terrestrial but of an unknown origin.
 
   Project Sign was renamed Project Grudge in February 1949. This incarnation of the government’s investigation of UFOs was the least productive at least in the sense of actually investigating UFOs. Minimal research time was given to each case, and the easiest answer was quickly ascribed to each one. A perfect example of this was the “radar kite” explanation trotted out for the Rogue River incident. The Air Force investigator thought this was a possible explanation and ignored the fact that the explanation didn’t fit with the testimony of two experienced observers or even the easily available weather data. It was a good enough explanation, and therefore, it was the only explanation.
 
   To reduce press interest, Project Grudge researchers wouldn’t return reporters’ calls promptly. This led to reports going stale and ending up in the back pages or not being reported at all. To many serious investigators, Project Grudge seemed like a cheap PR operation. Project Grudge released only one report during its brief lifespan. The report ran some 600 pages, but the tone of the entire thing is best summed up in the authors’ own summary: 
 
   “A. There is no evidence that objects reported upon are the result of an advanced scientific foreign development; and, therefore, they constitute no direct threat to the national security. In view of this, it is recommended that the investigation and study of reports of unidentified flying objects be reduced in scope. Headquarters AMC [Air Materials Command] will continue to investigate reports in which realistic technical applications are clearly indicated.
 
   NOTE: It is apparent that further study along present lines would only confirm the findings presented herein. It is further recommended that pertinent collection directives be revised to reflect the contemplated change in policy.
 
   B. All evidence and analyses indicate that reports of unidentified flying objects are the result of:
 
   1. Misinterpretation of various conventional objects.
 
   2. A mild form of mass-hysteria and war nerves.
 
   3. Individuals who fabricate such reports to perpetrate a hoax or 
 
   to seek publicity.
 
   4. Psychopathological persons.”
 
   Project Grudge was replaced in 1952 with the famous Project Blue Book, which took UFO sightings much more seriously and was actually given the funds to properly investigate some of the more promising sightings. The U.S. government did not follow Project Grudge’s recommendation that “the investigation and study of reports of unidentified flying objects be reduced in scope.” This study amassed a huge amount of data, studying 12,618 reports. Like Project Grudge, it determined that UFOs were not extraterrestrial in nature and that while numerous sightings were unexplained (22% of the cases the project studied), the lack of explanation did not mean the sightings were inexplicable. More to the point, since Project Blue Book was an Air Force study, it did not find that UFOs were a threat to national security. These findings were made in the Condon Report of 1968, and its authors essentially wrote themselves out of a job. Project Blue Book shut down in early 1970.
 
   The Air Force still documents UFO sightings if they are reported by, or to, Air Force personnel even though it doesn’t publically acknowledge having a staff devoted to such work.
 
   


 
  

Chapter 8: Alien Contactees
 
   In the 1950s, the aliens in the flying saucers stopped being content with merely buzzing passenger jets and people on the ground; they started talking with human beings and asking them to relay messages to the world. One of the first to be contacted, and certainly the most famous in those early days, was George Adamski.
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   Adamski
 
   Starting in the late 1920s, Adamski became known within occult circles in California as a teacher espousing a mixture of Christianity and Eastern Mysticism. In the 1930s he founded the Royal Order of Tibet and got the organization recognized as a religion, even wrangling permission to serve communion wine during Prohibition. In later years, Adamski boasted that he had made a fortune selling wine to anyone who wanted it, not just his followers.
 
   By 1944 he was living on Palomar Mountain, farming and operating a café and campground. Palomar Observatory was on the top of the mountain, and Adamski made a decent living selling refreshments to scientists and visitors going up the winding mountain road to visit the observatory. Here at his campground on October 9, 1946, he saw his first UFO. Like many sightings of the time, the object he described was a large, cigar-shaped object that he described as a “mother ship.” More sightings followed, and by 1949, he was a popular, paid speaker on the UFO phenomenon. His café was the base of operations, a good location for meeting members of the public who were already interested in space and science. Adamski started calling himself “Professor Adamski of Palomar Observatory” even though he had never attended a university and didn’t work for the observatory.
 
   On November 20, 1952, while walking in the California desert, he met his first alien, a man from the planet Venus named Orthon. The Venusian looked like a human with blonde hair and tanned skin. This would be the first of many meetings with the Venusians, who told him they were contacting the people of Earth because they were afraid the nuclear arms race would destroy the planet and spread radiation throughout the solar system. During these meetings, the aliens described how every planet in the solar system was inhabited and that they all lived in a scientific utopia of peace and plenty. This was not, however, the atheistic worker’s utopia espoused by the Soviet bloc. Instead, it was a religious utopia in which everyone followed the dictates of a “Creator of All” to love one another. The God and Jesus of the Bible was only a faint reflection of the true Creator, and if humanity learned to love and obey this Creator, it too could live in a utopia.
 
   Adamski’s message of peace and understanding hit a chord in a world frightened by the possibility of atomic annihilation. He was soon touring the nation, giving interviews and speeches; and he wrote three bestselling books that remain in print 60 years later. The aliens took Adamski on several trips around the solar system where he discovered that Venus, Mars, and the dark side of the Moon were all inhabitable and looked much like Earth. This brought him derision from scientists and serious Ufologists alike, but his rise to fame was unstoppable. He was invited to meet the queen of the Netherlands and boasted that he had a secret meeting with the Pope. Adamski became a wealthy man; and while his claims became ever more grandiose, his fame never lagged. He even obliquely compared himself to Jesus Christ by stating that Christ had been a messenger for the “Space Brothers” like he was and that both of them were trying to bring the aliens’ utopia to the people of Earth. The Adamski Foundation continues to this day to spread his message and keep his books in print.
 
   Adamski’s success launched a wave of contactees who matched his stories but never quite matched his success. Still, money was to be made in claiming to be on speaking terms with the aliens. While today people are familiar with horrifying stories of alien abductions in which the human victims are subjected to a range of terrifying and intrusive tests, in those early days, the aliens seemed much more benign. The majority of contactees said the aliens had come to Earth to save humanity, a sort of cargo cult for the atomic age.
 
   Some of the contactees combined occultism with Ufology. Adamski sometimes channeled the voices of aliens with mental telepathy, and the Adamski Foundation offers courses in this technique for those who want to speak with the aliens themselves. Famous contactee William Dudley Pelley used automatic writing and published the alien messages in his book Star Guests. George Hunt Williamson along with Alfred and Betty Bailey contacted the aliens with an Ouija board. Although when they wrote up these messages for their book The Saucers Speak, they claimed they talked with the aliens using the more mundane medium of shortwave radio. They chatted with the entire solar system, contacting various improbably named aliens such as Actar of Mercury, Terra and Lomec of Venus, Zago of Mars, Ankar-22 of Jupiter, Kadar Lacu from Saturn, Agfa Affa from Uranus, Nah-9 and Zo from Neptune, and Artok and Garr from Pluto. Many of the contactees of the 1950s had originally been followers of Adamski, but when they started having contacts and writing books of their own, Adamski usually broke off relations with them.
 
   Another leading contactee was a farmer in the Missouri Ozarks named Buck Nelson. Living in a rural area, he claimed never to have heard of flying saucers when on July 30, 1954, he had his first sighting. He was sitting inside listening to his radio around 4 o’clock p.m. when suddenly all he heard was static. Outside, his dog started barking, and he could hear his horse whinnying and bucking.
 
   When he went outside, Nelson saw a large, metallic disc hovering over the house and two similar objects farther up in the sky. He rushed back inside to get his camera and a flashlight. Nelson took several photos of the objects and then tried to signal to them with his flashlight. When he did this, the objects shot a ray at him that “was much brighter and hotter than the sun.” This knocked him down, and when he got up, he found they were gone. Strangely, he also realized that the lumbago and neuritis in his back and arm had been cured. His eyesight was much improved as well, and although he hadn’t been granted 20/20 vision, he no longer needed to wear his glasses.
 
   Later, when he had the photos processed, only one of the photos showed the two distant discs. The one close to the house, which should have taken up much of the image, was nowhere to be seen. Most of the photos showed nothing.
 
   The space visitors showed up again on February 1 of the following year. This time they circled the farm and through some sort of public address system asked if Nelson was friendly. They wanted permission to land at the spring behind his farm. When he assented, they said, “We’ll see you again,” and buzzed off.
 
   The visitors returned on March 5, and this time they landed. Three passengers and a dog alighted from the UFO and paid Nelson a visit. All looked human, and indeed, one of them was a young man who had been whisked away two years previously to be shown the solar system. The dog appeared identical to a normal earth dog except that it weighed 385 pounds. Nelson played the cordial host and showed the visitors around the house. The aliens were particularly interested in his power supply which they thought was primitive. When Nelson asked if they knew what the picture of Jesus on the wall meant, they said, “Yes, we understand, but you people don’t.”
 
   On April 24, 1955, the spacemen treated Nelson to a trip beyond Earth on one of their discs which measured 50 feet across and about 8 feet high. First, they took him to Mars, which he described as a colorful planet but with cattle and horses just like on Earth. The dark side of the moon, Nelson stated, had many lakes, rivers, and settlements. Venus had three moons (in fact it has none), and the local ruler wore overalls and liked to paint. The Venusians drove around in hover cars that ran forever and never broke down. Of course, Buck Nelson didn’t have any pictures of these wonders. Any mechanical object, he was told, would become “magnetized” by the trip and rendered useless. He did take a photo of the alien’s dog during one of the visits to his farm. This dog, called “Bo,” looks quite terrestrial.
 
   Besides the trip, the aliens also gave him the “Twelve Laws of God” that were the only laws on Venus and asked him to share them with the world, which he later did in a pamphlet:
 
   “THE TWELVE LAWS OF GOD…ON VENUS”
 
   (These twelve laws were given to Buck Nelson, at his farm at Mountain View, Missouri, on April 24, 1955, by men from the planet Venus. These laws are followed faithfully and are not just something to mention occasionally.)
 
   LOVE: Love your Maker, your parents, your neighbors, all birds and animals of the earth, and everything in the sea and air.
 
   HONOR: Honor your God and parents. Obey God’s law which is also man's law.
 
   OBEY: Obey God’s law, your parents and the rights of others.
 
   THE LAWS
 
   1. Love your Maker…God.
 
   2. Thou shalt not kill…includes accidents and war.
 
   3. Love your neighbor.
 
   4. Let your light shine before men, and all will see your good works, and it will be an honor to you and your Maker…God.
 
   5. Thou shalt not commit adultery.
 
   6. Thou shalt not steal.
 
   7. Thou must do as thou wish to be done by.
 
   8. No other god shall be before thee.
 
   9. Do not take the name of God in vain.
 
   10. Honor your father and mother.
 
   11. Your body is God’s. Do not misuse it in any way. Do not drink or eat anything that is not food. Use nothing to harm the body, either inside or out. Wear nothing on the body that harms it or is of no use.
 
   12. God made the heaven and the earth, and we must give Him thanks for what He gives us.”
 
   As can be seen, Buck Nelson’s account jives closely with that of George Adamski’s and those of several other prominent contactees. He published a pamphlet on his experiences and was asked to go on speaking tours in many parts of the country, appearing both on radio and television. Flying saucers were hot news then, and anyone who had claimed to ride on one was a star attraction. Nelson also hosted an annual Spacecraft Convention at his farm at which many witnesses and contactees told their tales. He sold tapes of gospel music and messages from his alien friends as well as envelopes containing hairs from the space dog.
 
   While these accounts seem rather naive and ridiculous to the twenty-first century reader, they were widely believed at the time, and many of the early contactees, especially Adamski, toured the world and made a small fortune off their claims. One common thread with all these contactees is the emphasis that mankind must mend his ways. Nuclear war was a special worry, something that was a very real threat at that time and has not left people even today.
 
   For example, Buck Nelson said that the aliens’ “Twelve Laws of God” meant that “the people of the other planets in our solar system are able to live in an order without wars; without armed forces or police, without tobacco, coffee or tea; without liquor and harmful drugs; free from the use of unrefined natural foods, disease is very rare, hence no hospitals, no prisons or sanitariums. The span of life is greatly extended; the cost of government is very small, the rule being based on truth and justice.”
 
   Thus the early alien contactees of the 1950s fit into generations of spiritual messengers before and since. Whether communing with angels, the spirits of dead ancestors, incorporeal beings, or aliens, these seers always stress that humanity has fallen from grace and needs to right many wrongs to avoid catastrophe.
 
   


 
  

Chapter 9: The Men in Black
 
   As interest in UFOs grew, some investigators and eyewitnesses reported being visited by sinister figures who warned against telling what the contactee knew. Generally, the figures appeared as pale humans dressed all in black and who spoke and acted in a strange and menacing fashion. They soon became known as “The Men in Black.”
 
   The first report of “Men in Black” came from Albert Bender, a prominent Ufologist who ran the International Flying Saucer Bureau (IFSB) and edited its house organ, Space Review. IFSB was only one of a number of such organizations, but it soon got the attention of the entire UFO community when it printed these two announcements in its October 1953 issue:
 
   “LATE BULLETIN. A source which the IFSB considers very reliable has informed us that the investigation of the flying saucer mystery and the solution is approaching its final stages. This same source to whom we had referred data, which had come into our possession, suggested that it was not the proper method and time to publish the data in Space Review.
 
   STATEMENT OF IMPORTANCE: The mystery of the flying saucers is no longer a mystery. The source is already known, but any information about this is being withheld by order from a higher source. We would like to print the full story in Space Review, but because of the nature of the information, we are very sorry that we have been advised in the negative. We advise those engaged in saucer work to please be very cautious.”
 
   Having dropped this bombshell, Bender ceased publication and shut down IFSB.  When a newspaper reporter asked Bender why he had walked away from his work, he revealed that he had been intimidated by three men in dark suits who had come to visit him and had told him in no uncertain terms to stop studying flying saucers. The visit terrified him, leaving him an emotional wreck and unable to sleep or eat. He also suffered from headaches, lapses of memory, and smelling strange odors he couldn’t trace.
 
   Bender took 10 years to reveal the full story. In his book Flying Saucers and the Three Men, Bender wrote how the “Men in Black” might have been aliens because they had an unearthly demeanor about them and glowing eyes. He added to his story by saying he was also visited by a trio of beautiful Nordic women in form-fitting, white uniforms. Their eyes glowed too. He also reported that his book almost didn’t get published because during the entire writing and publishing process he suffered psychic disturbances, more visits from the “Men in Black,” and his manuscript had disappeared and had to be retyped.
 
   Even though Bender had started the “Men in Black” legend, his book came rather late in the day. In the intervening ten years, the story had become part of the UFO canon, with many investigators saying they had received threatening visitations. Their stories share several common elements—the men always dressed in black or dark suits and came in threes. Often, they wore sunglasses and arrived in old-style, black cars. They often showed identification from the FBI or CIA but never gave their victims enough time to actually study the ID cards. Sometimes the “men” produce ID cards that were covered in strange symbols.
 
   A few details differed. Some witnesses said that the “Men in Black” had dark, or Asian, features while others said the “men” were deathly pale. One theory was that the guys were aliens that were poorly disguising themselves as human.
 
   One of the more bizarre cases came from a family that only spoke to investigators on the condition of anonymity because they feared for their safety. The entire family had seen a UFO, and a few weeks later they had a strange nighttime visitor. The man, if he was a man, was enormously built and almost seven feet tall with deathly pale skin, a small head, and spindly limbs. He wore an odd fur hat with a visor and a light jacket.
 
   The apparition claimed he was an insurance investigator looking for a man with the same name as the husband of the household saying the husband had inherited a large sum. Like many “Men in Black,” he produced identification but put it away before anyone could look at it. After being invited inside, he removed his jacket, and the family saw a gold badge pinned to his shirt. This the man immediately covered with his hand, took off, and put in his pocket.
 
   The family got the strange feeling that this visitor had something to do with the UFO they had seen, but he never brought up the subject. Instead, he asked for various personal details as if he was, indeed, an insurance investigator. While this was going on, the daughter of the household was chilled to notice that the man’s pants had ridden up his leg to reveal a green wire running up his sock, along the side of his leg, and into his flesh at two points.
 
   Then, the man left, getting into a black car parked in the driveway. Vaguely, the family could see two other figures inside. The car pulled away without turning its lights on and turned onto a dirt road behind the house that led into the woods. They never heard from the strange figure again.
 
   Occasionally the “Men in Black” didn’t look strange or menacing, but instead looked like normal human beings. They seemed to have a fondness for impersonating UFO investigators in order to sow discord and suspicion within the UFO community. For many years a widespread rumor was spread that prominent UFO and paranormal investigator John Keel had been abducted by aliens and replaced with an android. Perhaps significantly, John Keel was the person who popularized the term “Men in Black.”
 
   The “Men in Black” even visited contactee Buck Nelson at his remote Ozarks farm as he related in a letter to his friend Fanny Lowery, who also typed the manuscript for his pamphlet:
 
   “Then after I got home, [from one of my speaking tours] THREE MEN IN BLACK came to my house. They told me to forget all I know about the spaceships and where they come from. I showed them my rifle and told them not to come any closer unless they wanted trouble. I am sure the law lets me protect myself from such people. They talked between themselves and said, “Well, you can tell or print your story because it is so well known anyway, but NEVER TRY TO PROVE IT.
 
   So much of what the Three Men in Black said to me would be hard to tell, let alone write. So much of it didn’t make sense. Anyway, I don’t scare easy. I don’t think I’ll be bothered again, and I don’t think they will bother you for helping me with this work. You can write this for print if you feel that you dare.
 
   I cooperate with government agencies when they come to see me; I do so in all ways when they let me know who they are. I’m glad I’m an American, and I do my best to cooperate. I don’t know who these men were.”
 
   As even a cursory review of unidentified flying objects makes clear, people have been seeing strange objects in the skies for centuries, but what they were seeing has changed with time. First, they saw gods in flying chariots or canoes. Then, they saw airships, and then rockets, and finally flying saucers. Each generation has seemingly interpreted the same phenomenon according to its own preconceptions. Even the visits by the mysterious “Men in Black” show similarities to earlier stories of unearthly visitors. In the Middle Ages, many tales were told of visits by the Devil who would appear as a man dressed in black although some feature would always give away the fact that he was not human.
 
   Interestingly, for much of the early period of UFOs, many of their occupants are described as human. The crews of the airships are usually human or humanlike Martians. The aliens that spoke with the contactees are also human looking. On the Adamski Foundation website, the Foundation refers to the aliens as “humans from other planets.” Only gradually, during the sightings of the 1940s and 1950s, do the descriptions of the aliens change from that of something human to something strange and unearthly. Even today, however, one of the main races of aliens people see are the so-called “Nordic types,” tall, blonde people much like those described by early contactees such as George Adamski. These Nordic aliens tend to be far more benign than other races such as the Grays, who mutilate cattle and experiment on humans, or the Lizard aliens, who supposedly can mask themselves as humans and have infiltrated all levels of government. Apparently, humans want to meet friendly beings from another world, but people want the aliens to be much like humans themselves.
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